

# Interprofessional Learning Through Simulation Project

Incident in a waiting room – managing upwards to avoid adverse events

**Facilitators' Guide** 

Delivering a Healthy WA

### **Acknowledgements**

The Department of Health Western Australia's Clinical Simulation Support Unit commissioned Edith Cowan University's Office of the Pro-Vice-Chancellor (Health Advancement) to produce these training materials with funding from Health Workforce Australia.

**Project team** 

Dr Claire Langdon, A/Manager, Workforce Education & Reform, Workforce, Resource Strategy Division, Western Australian Department of Health

Mr Richard Clark, (formerly) A/Coordinator, Clinical Simulation Support Unit, Western Australian Department of Health

Office of the Pro-Vice-Chancellor (Health Advancement), Edith Cowan University

**Script writer** 

Helen Hanson, Simulation Training Specialist, Health Simulation Centre, Edith Cowan University

Director/ Associate Producer Helen Hanson

**Production** Mario Contarino, Videocraft

#### **Executive Producer**

. . . .

Professor Cobie Rudd, Pro-Vice-Chancellor (Health Advancement) and Professor of Mental Health

Actors	
Young resident doctor	Kristian Barron
Registered nurse	Helen Doig
Alex Martin (patient)	Murray Dowsett
Receptionist	Ingrid Longley
Exercise physiologist	Joana Morris
Man in wheelchair	Doug Gardiner
Friend of Mr Martin	Gaynor O'Hare

Interprofessional Learning in Simulation Project Steering Group Emeritus Professor Louis Landau, Principal Medical Advisor, Workforce, Western Australian Department of Health

Dr Claire Langdon, A/Manager, Workforce Education & Reform, Workforce, Resource Strategy Division, Western Australian Department of Health

Mr Richard Clark, (formerly) A/Coordinator, Clinical Simulation Support Unit, Western Australian Department of Health

Ms Rebecca Crellin, A/Coordinator, Clinical Simulation Support Unit, Western Australian Department of Health

Winthrop Professor Jeffrey Hamdorf, Director, Clinical Training and Evaluation Centre and Professor of Surgical Education, School of Surgery, University of Western Australia

Associate Professor Brian Nook, Dean for Chiropractic and Sports Sciences, Murdoch University

Ms Carol Watson, Assistant Superintendent Physiotherapist, Royal Perth Hospital

Dr Monica Gope, Director, Post Graduate Medical Education, Western Australian Country Health Service (WACHS) and Clinical Senior Lecturer, School of Primary, Aboriginal & Rural Health Care, University of Western Australia

Dr Martin Glick, Manager, Central Clinical and Support Services, Dental Health Services, Public Health and Ambulatory Care, North Metropolitan Health Service, Western Australian Department of Health

Ms Lisa Sorensen, Manager, Learning and Development, Western Australian Country Health Service (WACHS)

Ms Kendra Bell-Hayes, A/Program Manager, Clinical Workforce and Reform, Western Australian Country Health Service (WACHS)

Ms Margo Brewer, Director of Interprofessional Practice, Faculty of Health Sciences, Curtin University of Technology

Professor Cobie Rudd, Pro-Vice-Chancellor (Health Advancement) and Professor of Mental Health, Edith Cowan University

Professor Gavin Frost, Dean, School of Medicine (Fremantle), University of Notre Dame Australia

Professor Ian Rodgers, Professor of Emergency Medicine, St John of God Hospital, Murdoch

Associate Professor Erica Yates, School of Dentistry/Oral Health Centre of Western Australia, University of Western Australia

© Department of Health, State of Western Australia (2013).

Copyright to this material produced by the Western Australian Department of Health belongs to the State of Western Australia, under the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968 (Commonwealth of Australia). Apart from any fair dealing for personal, academic, research or non-commercial use, no part may be reproduced without written permission of the Clinical Simulation Support Unit, Western Australian Department of Health. The Western Australian Department of Health is under no obligation to grant this permission. Please acknowledge the Western Australian Department of Health when reproducing or quoting material from this source.

#### **Disclaimers:**

All information and content in this material is provided in good faith by the Western Australian Department of Health, and is based on sources believed to be reliable and accurate at the time of development. The State of Western Australia, the Western Australian Department of Health and their respective officers, employees and agents, do not accept legal liability or responsibility for the material, or any consequences arising from its use.

The filmed scenario has been developed from the experiences of the Interprofessional Learning in Simulation Project Steering Group. All due care has been taken to make the scenarios as realistic as possible. The characters in the filmed scenarios are fictitious and any resemblance to persons living or dead is purely coincidental.



Government of Western Australia Department of Health Clinical Simulation Support Unit





### Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Contents	4
How to use this resource	5
Interprofessional learning through simulation	5
Resource contents	6
Learning objectives	7
Learning outcomes	
Section One: What is 'interprofessional'?	
Why the need for interprofessional learning?	9
What does the term interprofessional mean?	9
How is interprofessional practice different to how people currently work?	11
Do we need to focus on interprofessional collaborative practice – don't professionals alr work interprofessionally?	
Section Two: Competency framework for interprofessional education	15
Teamwork	15
Lack of focus on human factors	16
Communication	18
Understanding roles and respecting other professions / role clarification	21
Reflection	26
Managing upwards to avoid adverse events	29
Section Three: Scenario – Incident in a waiting room	32
Scenario	
What to do next	32
Scene One: Waiting room of a regional hospital	33
Scene Two: Improved practice	38
Section Four: Literature review – Managing upwards to avoid adverse events	46
Adverse events	46
Managing upwards	50
Steps in managing upward	51
Assertive communication	56
Conclusion	60
Acronyms	61
Glossary	62
References	64

### How to use this resource

This resource (the Facilitator's Guide) provides the framework to support the development of communication and problem solving, together with problem-based learning scenarios that

encompass some challenging (but quite typical) patients that clinicians could expect to encounter as part of their practice. The goal of this interprofessional learning experience is to help prepare all health professionals – be they students or beginning clinicians – for working together.

This resource is intended to develop your understanding of the principles of interprofessional practice and raise your awareness of opportunities for implementing interprofessional practice in your own environment. Throughout the resource are opportunities to consider how notions of interprofessional practice affect your current work practices and activities that enable you to reflect on these. The goal of this interprofessional learning experience is to help prepare all health professionals – be they students or beginning clinicians – for working together.

### Interprofessional learning through simulation

This resource utilises simulation as a means to facilitate a learning experience; one that recreates events that are closely linked to reality. Gaba<sup>1</sup> defined simulation as a technique, rather than a technology, to replace or amplify real life experiences with guided experiences, often immersive in nature, to evoke or replicate aspects of the real world, in a fully interactive pattern.

Simulation provides a safe learning environment for students to practice, where they are free to make mistakes, correct them and improve the processes of care.<sup>2</sup> Simulation is the bridge between classroom learning and the real life clinical experience, allowing students to put theory into practice.

Interprofessional learning through simulation provides learning opportunities to prepare future health care professionals for the collaborative models of health care being developed internationally<sup>3</sup> and can encompass a range of environments and resources that harness technologies, including multimedia and online applications.<sup>4</sup>

### **Resource contents**

There are four sections within this resource. Information presented in Section One and Section Two is largely focussed on interprofessional learning and Section Two also contains an introductory section on managing upwards.

- Sections One and Two of this resource contain questions that require users to reflect on the content they have covered.
- Scenarios included in Section Three require users to watch the associated audiovisual resource 'Incident in the waiting room' and complete the questions that relate to interprofessional learning and managing upwards to avoid adverse events.
- Section Four provides a literature review about managing upwards to avoid adverse events, which can be used as reference material.

### Learning objectives

The key interprofessional learning message of this resource is:

# Managing upwards to avoid adverse events – how to address incorrect behaviour in an acute situation

The learning objectives of this resource are based on **five competency domains** from the Australian audit of interprofessional education in health:

- Teamwork;
- Understanding roles and respecting other professions;
- Role clarification;
- Understanding of Interprofessional Education (IPE);
- Reflection.<sup>5</sup>

Learning outcomes will be addressed through the consideration and discussion of material presented in Sections One and Two in relation to interprofessional practice generally, and the case study presented in Section Three which is focussed more specifically on managing upwards to avoid adverse events.

### Learning outcomes

On completion of this resource, participants should be able to:

- Identify the key elements of interprofessional practice;
- Differentiate between interprofessional practice and current ways of working;
- Understand the importance of 'human factors' and appreciate how non-technical factors impact patient care;
- Develop an awareness of tools to enhance successful communication with patients and carers;
- Describe strategies to develop a deeper understanding of other professions' roles and responsibilities;
- Identify what changes are required to promote interprofessional practice;

- Distinguish between the roles of the health professionals involved in this case study, including areas of possible overlap;
- Identify the potential barriers to interprofessional communication and collaboration in the context of an adverse event;
- Analyse managing upwards in the context of the health care team;
- Assess the impact of team communication and team relationships on patient care; and
- Reflect on own and other health professionals' practice.



### **Section One: What is 'interprofessional'?**

### Why the need for interprofessional learning?

In today's health care setting, human service professions are facing problems so complex that no single discipline can possibly respond to them effectively.<sup>6</sup> The World Health Organization (WHO) has stated 'It is no longer enough for health workers to be professional. In the current global climate, health workers also need to be interprofessional'.<sup>7</sup>

### What does the term interprofessional mean?

Interprofessional learning (IPL) is defined as:

 Learning arising from interaction between members (or students) of two or more professions. This may be a product of interprofessional education or happen spontaneously in the workplace or education settings.<sup>8</sup>

Interprofessional education (IPE) is defined as:

Occasions where two or more professions learn from,
 with and about each other to improve collaboration and the quality of care.<sup>8</sup>

Interprofessional practice (IPP) is defined as:

 Two or more professions working together as a team with a common purpose, commitment and mutual respect.<sup>8</sup>

When interprofessional practice is working well it is thought to achieve the following six outcomes:<sup>9</sup>

### 1. Works to improve the quality of care:

No one profession, working in isolation, has the expertise to respond adequately and effectively to the complexity of many users' needs and to ensure that care is safe, seamless and holistic to the highest possible standard.

### 2. Focuses on the needs of service users and carers:

IPL puts the interests of service users and carers at the centre of learning and practice.

Encourages professions to learn with, from and about each other

### 3. Encourages professions to learn with, from and about each other:

IPL is more than common learning, valuable though that is to introduce shared concepts, skills, language and perspectives that establish common ground for interprofessional practice. It is also comparative, collaborative and interactive, a test-bed for interprofessional practice, taking into account respective roles and responsibilities, skills and knowledge, powers and duties, value systems and codes of conduct, opportunities and constraints. This cultivates mutual trust and respect, acknowledging differences, dispelling prejudice and rivalry and confronting misconceptions and stereotypes.

#### 4. Respects the integrity and contribution of each profession:

IPL is grounded in mutual respect. Participants, whatever the differences in their status in the workplace, are equal learners. They celebrate and utilise the distinctive experience and expertise that participants bring from their respective professional fields.

#### 5. Enhances practice within professions:

Each profession gains a deeper understanding of its own practice and how it can complement and reinforce that of others. This is endorsed where the IPL carries credit towards professional awards and counts towards career profession.

#### 6. Increases professional satisfaction:

IPL cultivates collaborative practice where mutual support eases occupational stress, either by setting limits on the demands made on any one profession or by ensuring that support and guidance are provided by other professionals if and when added responsibilities are shouldered.

### How is interprofessional practice different to how people currently work?

The Australasian Interprofessional Practice and Education Network (AIPPEN) have identified a number of terms currently that convey a similar but different intent and meaning to the term interprofessional.<sup>10</sup>

#### Interdisciplinary

 Interdisciplinary has been used by researchers and practitioners when they attempt to analyse, synthesise and harmonise the connections between disciplines, to generate a coordinated and coherent health delivery system.<sup>11</sup> 'Interdisciplinary' is said to lack the inherent depth of collaboration implied by the term 'interprofessional'.

#### **Multidisciplinary**

 Health professionals represent a range of health and social care professions that may work closely with one another, but may not necessarily interact, collaborate or communicate effectively.<sup>12</sup>

#### **Multiprofessional**

- Work occurs when a range of professional practitioners work in parallel. Each discipline has clear role definitions and specified tasks and there are hierarchical lines of authority and high levels of professional autonomy within the team.
- Multiprofessional, as a term, may not imply optimal levels of collaboration.
- Practitioners consult individually with service users and use their own goals and treatment plans to deliver services.<sup>13</sup>

#### Collaboration

 Is 'an interprofessional process of communication and decision-making that enables the separate and shared knowledge and skills of health care providers to synergistically influence the ways client/patient care and broader community health services are provided'.<sup>14</sup>

# Do we need to focus on interprofessional collaborative practice – don't professionals already work interprofessionally?

Interprofessional practice is a way of practicing that is based on collaboration. Nurses, doctors and other health professionals have for a long time worked closely together and have developed successful long-term partnerships. However, as has been stated:

We cannot assume that health professionals have either the skills or attributes required for interprofessional practice. They may need to learn how to collaborate. Developing interprofessional practice requires a commitment to engage in shared learning and dialogue. Dialogue has the potential to encourage collegial learning, change thinking, support new working relationships, and improve client care.<sup>15</sup>

Although health professionals receive extensive professional development, most training emphasises specific disease processes, technology and treatment and has largely undervalued human factors. Human factors training is necessary to help individuals learn how to improve working relationships with colleagues and those from other disciplines.<sup>15</sup>

The end goal of interprofessional education is to create a health workforce with improved levels of teamwork, collaboration, knowledge-sharing and problem-solving, eventually leading to better patient and client outcomes in health settings.<sup>16</sup> The WHO has recognised the importance of interprofessional education and collaborative practice in developing a health workforce that is able to meet the complex health challenges facing the world and assist in the achievement of the health-related Millennium Development Goals.<sup>7</sup>

# **ACTIVITY ONE**

What would you expect to notice as indicators of interprofessional practice?

What range of factors might be different in an interprofessional practice environment?

### **ACTIVITY ONE: ANSWER AID**

# Anecdotes from clinicians with an increasing awareness of interprofessional thinking and behaviour in the clinical environment:

"I went to a placement and something clicked. It gelled and I suddenly got it...it's more than an awareness of others – you realise you are not an island and it's up to others as well. You can recognise opportunities for clients and refer them to other disciplines".

"I used to get frustrated at them not seeing through my discipline lens but then I saw how difficult it was for me to learn about their discipline".

"You begin to realise you are part of a bigger picture and because of that you need to be able to communicate with people in a way they understand... I was listening to nurses with all the jargon they use and it made me become more aware of the amount of jargon I use – I thought I was practising interprofessionally but didn't realise I was using so much jargon".

# Section Two: Competency framework for interprofessional education

Although a range of competencies have been identified, there is no one overarching framework that provides a definitive set of interprofessional competencies. Initial findings from an Australian national audit of pre-registration interprofessional education in health identified five IPE domains to support the development of a national curriculum framework. The identified domains were:

- Teamwork;
- Understanding roles and respecting other professions;
- Role clarification;
- Understanding of IPE; and
- Reflection.<sup>5</sup>

### Teamwork

Patients will increasingly demand physicians, nurses and other health professionals to communicate and work together effectively

The identified domain 'teamwork' included the elements: communication, leadership, attitudes, team relationships and conflict resolution. We know that effective teamwork plays a key role in improving quality and safety in health care, and the need for increased collaboration and teamwork across the health professions is necessary in order to care for an aging population with multiple chronic illnesses.<sup>17</sup> Patients will increasingly demand physicians, nurses and other health professionals to communicate and work together effectively. Teams bring their collective knowledge and experience to provide a more robust foundation for decision making than any single clinician can offer.<sup>17</sup>

Team functioning and collaboration is thought to be enhanced when individuals:

- Participate in team activities;
- Foster positive team relationships;
- Appreciate differing personalities within teams; and
- Demonstrate respect.<sup>17</sup>

### Lack of focus on human factors

The elements that make up teamwork are regarded as 'human factors' and are the nontechnical factors that impact on patient care. Human factors can be defined as the interaction of equipment and individuals and the variables that can affect the outcome.<sup>18,19</sup> Bromiley and Reid quote Catchpole in their article,<sup>20</sup> stating that more broadly the term clinical human factors can also encompass interactions with the environment that include an 'understanding of the effects of teamwork, tasks, equipment, workspace, culture and organisation on human behaviour and abilities, and the application of that knowledge in clinical settings'.

The contemporary focus of human factors in health care reportedly had its genesis in the work of James Reason in 1995 when he stated that, 'human rather than technical failures now represent the greatest threat to complex and potentially hazardous systems'.<sup>21</sup> More recent research highlights that rather than poor technical skill, human factors such as suboptimal communication and organisational system and culture inadequacies were implicated in up to 87% of the errors, adverse events and near misses that occur.<sup>22-25</sup>

Historically, health care has regarded technical skills and competence as key to patient safety. Technical excellence in, for example, nursing and medicine is important because health care professionals need to know what they are doing to maintain high standards of care and quality outcomes for patients. However, other safety-critical industries (such as defence and aviation) have learnt that even the most technically qualified and expert individuals can encounter difficulties when under stress. Such non-technical abilities – sometimes referred to as 'soft skills' – need to be valued equally.<sup>26</sup> Humans, when under pressure, have a capacity to become overly focused or fixated on technical problems.<sup>27</sup> Focus on human factors to improve the way teams work is important because:

- Opportunities to optimise the way teams work is becoming progressively more difficult with an increasing number of part-time workers, increasing patient loads and decreased staffing;
- The attitudes and behaviours of those who make up `teams' can be problematic at times and a lack of congruence in how teamwork itself is interpreted exacerbates underlying resentments, undermines professional esteem, and in some cases, creates outright conflict; and
- Working in teams, at times, can be fraught with difficulties and the `ideal' of effective team working as defined in the prescriptive literature, is apparently rarely realised.<sup>28</sup>

### **ACTIVITY TWO**

Think about your team (past or present) and how your team functions...what are the issues that make it challenging to focus on improving team performance?

What strategies have you found to be effective in improving team performance?

What do you feel could be done to improve team performance?

### Communication

Appropriate interprofessional communication:

- Maintains patient confidentiality;
- Provides and delivers feedback;
- Promotes the role of other disciplines to patient/carers;
- Communicates in a clear and concise manner;
- Acknowledges the knowledge and skills of other disciplines; and
- Minimises discipline specific terminology.

Interprofessional practice also places an increased focus on the needs of service users and carers. Although communication among and between professionals is critical, to ensure the interests of service users and carers remains at the centre of learning and practice, strategies to enhance communication practices with service users and carers are essential. Patient-centred care:

- Places the service users and carers at the centre of practice;
- Establishes patient-centred goals;
- Facilitates decision making with patient/family; and
- Recognises and responds to the patient's changing needs.<sup>29</sup>

The mnemonic LIPSERVICE will help ensure that you consider the many aspects of successful communication with clients and patients and will be utilised later in the resource.

is for Language	Does your patient speak English?
	How well do they speak it?
	<ul> <li>Do you need to consider getting an interpreter to assist?</li> </ul>
	• What is the person's education level and understanding – will you
	need to modify the language you use in order to help them
	understand what you are asking or telling them?
is for Introduction	Make sure you introduce yourself to the person, and give them
-	your role – especially if what you do is something that is not
	commonly known. While most patients will understand the role of a
	'doctor', they may not be familiar with what an 'occupational
	therapist' does. If in doubt, you should explain your role.
<b>P</b> is for Privacy, Dignity and Cultural issues	<ul> <li>Is this a person who is going to be embarrassed by being</li> </ul>
	examined by someone of the opposite gender?
	• Should you ask before you address them by their first name. Many
	more elderly patients are of a generation who value the respect
	that being called 'Mr' or 'Mrs' gives them.
	Be aware of different cultural expectations that you may encounter.

<b>S</b> is for	This is where you take the person's history.
<ul> <li>Subjective</li> <li>Questioning</li> </ul>	• A thorough history will be invaluable in helping to make a diagnosis.
5	<ul> <li>Be aware of the power of 'leading questions' though.</li> </ul>
	• Ask open-ended rather than closed questions to obtain your answers.
F is for	• Some considerations here include talking the person through what it is
Examination	that you are doing, especially if this is an invasive or unusual procedure
	for them.
	• Knowing what is happening and why, as well as what to expect, can help
	alleviate the person's concern about what it is you are doing to them.
<b>R</b> is for Review	• Talk through what you have done as part of the examination – and what
	it added to your knowledge of their condition.
	• For example, 'You were talking about how you get short of breath, and I
	could hear from listening to your chest that your lungs are quite
	congested.'
V is for Verdict	The diagnosis.
-	• What their history and your examination have led you to think is causing
	their symptoms and signs.
is for	What does the diagnosis mean for the person?
Information	Having a diagnosis of a lump in the breast can mean many things.
	The person needs to know about these.
C is to remind	• This is where you determine if what you have said has made sense to
you to Check Understanding	the person.
enderetairairig	• People may only hear the diagnosis and then go into a state of shock –
	which means they don't process what you tell them next.
is for End or	What's going to happen next for the person?
Exit	What about follow up?
	Referrals to other professionals?

• Referrals to other professionals?

### Understanding roles and respecting other professions / role clarification

The need to address complex health and illness problems, in the context of complex care delivery systems and community factors, calls for recognising the limits of professional expertise and the need for cooperation, coordination and collaboration across the professions in order to

promote health and treat illness. However, effective coordination and collaboration can occur only when each profession knows and uses the other's expertise and capabilities in a patient-centred way.<sup>30</sup>

The WHO report in 2005 argued that health care providers must work interdependently, demonstrating mutual respect, trust, support and appreciation of each discipline's unique contribution. Although it is changing, the traditional way in which health professional students are educated is uni-professional; and occurs within discipline- and profession-specific groups.<sup>31</sup> Within uniprofessional environments students develop a solid grounding in the specific knowledge of their own profession, although many, if not most, students leave Interprofessional practice is about developing professionals who are confident in their own core skills and expertise and who are also fully aware and confident in the skills and expertise of fellow health and care professionals.

educational environments with a cursory understanding of other disciplines' roles and responsibilities.

One educational approach which is thought to assist professionals to develop greater `team awareness' is to understand other professional perspectives through 'shared learning'.<sup>28</sup> Shared learning has the potential to deepen understanding of how professional roles and responsibilities complement each other<sup>30</sup> and engender a greater appreciation of 'common' or overlapping competencies.<sup>32</sup> An enhanced understanding of other professional's roles and responsibilities possible through shared learning can alleviate some of the potential tensions that exist in relation to overlapping competencies between health practitioners.

Interprofessional practice is about developing professionals who are confident in their own core skills and expertise and who are also fully aware and confident in the skills and expertise of fellow health and care professionals.<sup>33</sup>

# **ACTIVITY THREE**

Within your own discipline, how easy/difficult would it be to verbalise your concerns about a colleague's knowledge, skills or competencies?

Thinking outside your own discipline, how would you know what knowledge, skills and competencies other disciplines need/should have? Pick a discipline you have contact with and explain what it is they do, as if you were explaining it to a patient.

Would it be more or less difficult to flag concerns about a colleague from another discipline than your own discipline, and why?

# **ACTIVITY THREE (continued)**

Over your career, how have you learnt about other professional's roles?

Given that optimal interprofessional practice requires you to have a deeper understanding of other professions' roles and responsibilites, identify two professions you would like (or need) to know more about and list strategies you could implement to attain a greater in-depth understanding of that profession's roles and responsibilities.

### **ACTIVITY THREE: ANSWER AID**

Each profession's roles and responsibilities vary within legal boundaries; actual roles and responsibilities change depending on the specific care situation. Professionals may find it challenging to communicate their own role and responsibilities to others. For example, Lamb et al.<sup>34</sup> discovered that staff nurses had no language to describe the key care coordination activities they performed in hospitals. Being able to explain what other professionals' roles and responsibilities are and how they complement one's own is more difficult when individual roles cannot be clearly articulated. Safe and effective care demands crisply defined roles and responsibilities.

Specific Roles/Responsibilities Competencies:

**RR1**. Communicate one's roles and responsibilities clearly to patients, families, and other professionals.

**RR2**. Recognise one's limitations in skills, knowledge, and abilities.

**RR3**. Engage diverse health care professionals who complement one's own professional expertise, as well as associated resources, to develop strategies to meet specific patient care needs.

**RR4**. Explain the roles and responsibilities of other care providers and how the team works together to provide care.

**RR5**. Use the full scope of knowledge, skills, and abilities of available health professionals and health care workers to provide care that is safe, timely, efficient, effective, and equitable.

## **ACTIVITY THREE: ANSWER AID (continued)**

**RR6**. Communicate with team members to clarify each member's responsibility in executing components of a treatment plan or public health intervention.

**RR7**. Forge interdependent relationships with other professions to improve care and advance learning.

**RR8**. Engage in continuous professional and interprofessional development to enhance team performance.

**RR9**. Use unique and complementary abilities of all members of the team to optimize patient care.

(Interprofessional Education Collaborative, 2011)

### Reflection

The importance of personal reflection in interprofessional practice was highlighted in a national study designed to inform the further development of IPL in Australian health professional education and workforce development. The report identified the importance of reflection as interprofessional education centred on:

...the relational aspects of practice or practising, with a learning and reflective focus on the team, as well as the individual, and is responsive to a body of knowledge and ethical orientation that engages with teams and team functioning as well as individuals and individual functioning.<sup>5</sup>

Processes that facilitate both individual and team reflection are critical to increase awareness and understanding of intra and inter personal relationships. One such tool to assist in the process of personal or team-based reflection to generate well-considered steps to problem solving with team members, patients and clients, is the mnemonic ASPIRIN.

Α	Acknowledge the problem	Basically, is there something that needs to be addressed?
S	Situational analysis	What is the cause of the situation? How did it come about and who is involved?
		What is likely to happen if you don't act?
		What are the risks if you do act?
Ρ	Provide some solutions.	There is almost always more than one approach that could be used to try and solve this situation.
		Decide on which is the most suitable.
I	Implement	Your preferred solution.
R	Review the outcome	How did it help?
		Do you need to try something else?
I	Inform stakeholders	Let people know – communication is very important.
Ν	Next steps	Is this a temporary fix?
		Do you need to look at a different long term solution?
		Will the problem occur again and again unless steps are taken to resolve it in the longer term?

# **ACTIVITY FOUR**

Consider a problem (past or present) and utilise ASPIRIN to assist you to generate new ways of thinking about that situation.

Reflect on how you consider interprofessional practice has the potential to impact upon patient outcomes.

Reflect on what you have covered in this resource thus far and consider what changes you need to make to ensure your own practice is interprofessionally-focussed.

### Managing upwards to avoid adverse events

Adverse events

- International research has now shown that between 4% and 17.7% of patients suffer from some kind of harm (including permanent disability and death) as a result of adverse events while in hospital.<sup>34</sup>
- Injuries resulting in harm to a patient and caused by medical management rather than the underlying condition or disease of the patient are identified as *adverse events*.
- These adverse events are considered preventable and may be the result of a single or multiple accumulating errors occurring in practice.
- Some adverse events do not result in a patient injury or harm and are referred to as *near misses.*
- Research and investigation into adverse events and near misses has seen an increased emphasis on what is termed *human factors*.
- There are two elements that contribute to human errors: latent and active factors.
- Active factors are more common and are the actions or inactions of individuals.
- Latent factors are present in all organisations and are reflected through poor communication, policies, heavy workload, poor management skills and overall organisational culture.
- Research into adverse medical events highlights that rather than poor technical skills, human factors such as suboptimal communication and organisational systems and culture inadequacies are implicated in the majority of errors, adverse events and near misses that occur.

Managing upwards

- Management is getting things done through people, and upward management can be defined as getting things done through those who supervise us.
- The team approach to management results in more cooperation, togetherness and commitment.
- Four key points in maximising the effectiveness of managing upwards:
  - 1. Clear communication;
  - 2. In praise of the boss let your manager know they are appreciated;
  - 3. Know what's important ensure you are aware of your manager's priorities; and
  - 4. Know when to fold 'em choose your battles carefully.

- There are several factors that may hinder effective upwards communication, including: fear of penalisation if an employee discloses their real opinion; avoiding risk of penalty if uncertain how their manager may respond; fear of punishment; and fear the employee may be perceived as lacking independence if they take a work-related problem to their manager.
- The key to promoting upwards communication lies, therefore, in the creation of secure relationships with employees and the modelling of desirable communication behaviours by managers.

### Assertive communication

- Poor communication and communication overload are shown to have a direct correlation with patient outcomes, adverse events and stressors among health care professionals.
- There are two vital communication skills, **active listening** and **assertion**, which provide the foundation of effective communication.
- Active listening describes communication behaviours focused on overcoming barriers to shared understanding.
- Assertiveness is a term used to describe behaviours that a person can use to deliver clear messages and stand up for him/herself in difficult situations without violating the rights of others.
- Assertive body language means developing an awareness of our bodily expression of meaning and assuring a 'good fit' in the verbal and non-verbal messages we are sending. Assertive, congruent body language is especially helpful in stressful situations.

The abilities to manage upwards and communicate assertively within the health care team are essential skills in the provision of optimal patient care and the minimisation of adverse events. A more complete literature review about managing upwards to avoid adverse events is available in Section Four.

Resource activities in relation to managing upwards to avoid adverse events follow in Section Three.

The scenario in Section Three highlights the importance of managing upwards to avoid adverse events and its implications for interprofessional collaborative practice.

### Section Three: Scenario – Incident in a waiting room

### **Scenario**

A young resident doctor has recently started work in a regional hospital. In the waiting room of this hospital a man collapses. An experienced nurse takes charge of the care for this patient, but is not using current evidence-based practice. The young resident doctor wants to intervene, but does not know how to address his experienced colleague.

### List of characters

- Young resident doctor
- Registered nurse
- Alex Martin (patient)
- Receptionist
- Exercise physiology student
- Registrar (by telephone)

### What to do next

Section Three of the resource requires that you:

- 1. Watch each scene of the associated resource 'Incident in a waiting room'.
  - Scene One Waiting room of a regional hospital
  - Scene Two Improved practice
- 2. After you have watched a scene, complete the activity questions relevant to that scene.
- 3. If necessary, refer to the 'answer aid' text box positioned after the activity questions for hints relating to managing upwards to avoid adverse events.

### Scene One: Waiting room of a regional hospital

Please watch 'Incident in a waiting room': Scene One



Notes:

## **ACTIVITY FIVE**

What four factors would you change in this scene to improve teamwork?

How might a team member know their interpersonal skills are lacking?

What factors might contribute to the suboptimal communication between team members in this scenario?
# **ACTIVITY FIVE (continued)**

Describe how role perception has influenced this scenario's outcomes (for all players).

What factors might prevent a team member from voicing their opinion?

If you were in this situation and assumed a leadership role, how would you allocate and manage the team to achieve a good outcome for the patient?

# **ACTIVITY FIVE: ANSWER AID**

What factors might prevent a team member from voicing their opinion? There are several factors that may hinder effective upwards communication, including: fear of penalisation if an employee discloses their real opinion; avoiding risk of penalty if uncertain how their manager may respond; fear of punishment; and fear the employee may be perceived as lacking independence if they take a work-related problem to their manager. In this scenario, the nurse has 20 years experience so a junior medical colleague may be reluctant to speak up for fear of reprisal from nursing staff.

One of the five domains identified in an Australian national audit of pre-registration interprofessional education in health, is teamwork. Interprofessional practice includes the elements: communication; leadership; attitudes; team relationships; and conflict resolution. Facilitation of this resource should include identifying if and where these behaviours occur in the interaction between the nurse and doctor.

### **Effective communication**

Curtis<sup>35</sup> identified the following as a guide to effective communication:

- Personal considerations learn to recognise your own emotional state and attempt to understand the other person's perspective;
- Preparation a few moments of preparation (when possible) aids delivery of your message, both in terms of structure and content;
- Structure a structured approach to communication ensures important details are not missed and minimises the risk of a communication error; and

# **ACTIVITY FIVE: ANSWER AID (continued)**

 Graded assertiveness – staff may be afraid to be assertive in communicating with senior staff even when aware something is not right. This technique aims to assist the staff member to escalate their concern through a stepped process. See 'Assertive Communication' in 'Section Four: Literature Review – Managing upwards to avoid adverse events' for more information.

As it is a routine process, clinical handover can be improved by the use of tools and techniques that standardise the process, while leaving room for situational variance. Within the Western Australia Department of Health, the standardised structure for all clinical handovers is iSoBAR:<sup>36</sup>

Identify Situation Observations Background Agree to plan Readback

### Scene Two: Improved practice

Please watch 'Incident in a waiting room': Scene Two



Notes:

# **ACTIVITY SIX**

Describe the communication and teamwork factors in this scenario that contributed to the changed outcomes.

Do these changes align with your answers in Activity Five? If not, what is different and has your opinion changed?

How is the safety of current and future patients improved, in comparison with Scene One?

# **ACTIVITY SIX (continued)**

Debriefing is a semi-structured conversation with an individual who has just experienced a stressful or traumatic event. In most cases, the purpose of debriefing is to reduce any possibility of psychological harm by informing people about their experience or allowing them to talk about it.<sup>37</sup>

Discuss the importance of debriefing after an incident.

What changes will you make in your personal future practice as a result of what you have learnt in this scenario?

### **ACTIVITY SIX: ANSWER AID**

Between Scene One and Scene Two the difference in three of the four aspects which enhance team functioning and collaboration is made visible:

- Foster positive team relationships;
- Appreciate differing personalities within teams; and
- Demonstrate respect.

### Discuss the importance of debriefing after an incident.

Debriefing can serve as an opportunity to reflect on an experience and make it meaningful by identifying what we learned about ourselves and others. Processes that facilitate both individual and team reflection are critical to increase awareness and understanding of intra/ interpersonal relationships.

### Anecdotes of managing upwards in clinical practice.

### Anecdote 1

"The patient in question was a lady that had multiple co-morbidities, one being chronic renal failure, for which she attended dialysis three times a week. Fluids prescribed were three litres of normal saline with potassium over 24 hours. Having recently qualified and spending time on the Renal Unit as a student, I thought fluids containing potassium would be detrimental to my patient. I questioned this with the senior staff nurse, who said if the doctor has prescribed it, put it up. I still wasn't happy, but felt unsupported and not sure where to turn. So I went behind her back and phoned the Renal Unit. They advised me in no uncertain terms I shouldn't put the fluids up and to call the doctor back to prescribe something more appropriate. This instance made me feel more confident about my own judgement but also not to be intimidated by seniority and question things if I was unsure."

### **ACTIVITY SIX: ANSWER AID (continued)**

#### Anecdote 2

"I have worked in a high acuity area for over 13 years and I consider myself an experienced, competent clinician. On one occasion when working with a student, I was commencing and discussing a routine, policy-based, naso-gastric feeding regime. The student however disagreed with my practice and informed me that recent evidence-based literature supported a different regime of feeding and quoted the rationale to support the changes. This challenge to my knowledge and practice made me feel defensive but I had to concede that I had become caught up in the routine of my daily practice and was not as informed as the student. On reflection, this experience demonstrated effective upward management from the student and highlighted the mutual benefits of student supervision."

#### Anecdote 3

"I was working as a new graduate midwife with only six months experience and was rostered for the day with a registered midwife who had over 20 years experience. We were caring for a woman in labour on the labour and birth suite. The woman was getting to the second stage of labour, when the midwife began applying pressure and 'sweeping' the perineum. I was immediately concerned as we had been taught at university that this practice was now outdated and not evidence-based, yet the midwife had over 20 years experience and had said this was the best way to reduce perineal trauma and tears. Following the delivery, I attempted to discuss this with the midwife and she was surprised by what we had been taught and asked that I bring in some relevant and evidence-based proof to support this. I did and together we provided an education session to all labour ward staff regarding this practice."

### **ACTIVITY SIX: ANSWER AID (continued)**

Anecdote 3 (continued)

"I learnt that newly trained staff have knowledge despite their lack of experience and that we should always be looking to provide the most evidence-based practice in order to provide the highest standard of care to our patients."

# **ACTIVITY SEVEN**

Watch scenes One and Two again and complete LIPSERVICE (below) to determine how focused the individual characters were on the needs of service users and carers.

First letter	LIPSERVICE Questions	Your notes
L is for	Does your patient speak English?	
Language	How well do they speak it?	
	• Do you need to consider getting an interpreter to assist?	
	What is the person's education level and understanding –	
	will you need to modify the language you use in order to	
	help them understand what you are asking or telling	
	them?	
is for	Make sure you introduce yourself to the person, and give	
ntroduction	them your role – especially if what you do is something	
nilouucion	that is not commonly known. While most patients will	
	understand the role of a 'doctor', they may not be familiar	
	with what an 'occupational therapist' does. If in doubt, you	
	should explain your role.	
<b>P</b> is for	Is this a person who is going to be embarrassed by being	
Privacy	examined by someone of the opposite gender?	
Privacy, Dignity and	Should you ask before you address them by their first	
Cultural issues	name (many more elderly patients are of a generation	
	who value the respect that being called 'Mr' or 'Mrs' gives	
	them).	
	Be aware of different cultural expectations that you may	
	encounter.	
<b>S</b> is for	This is where you take the person's history.	
Subjective	A thorough history will be invaluable in helping to make a	
Questioning	diagnosis.	
	• Be aware of the power of 'leading questions' though.	
	Ask open-ended rather than closed questions to obtain	
	your answers.	

<b>E</b> is for	٠	Some considerations here include talking the person
<b>F</b> or and in a diam		through what it is that you are doing, especially if this is
Examination		an invasive or unusual procedure for them.
	•	Knowing what is happening and why, as well as what to
		expect, can help alleviate the person's concern about
		what it is you are doing to them.
<b>R</b> is for	٠	Talk through what you have done as part of the
Deview		examination – and what it added to your knowledge of
Review		their condition.
	•	For example, 'You were talking about how you get short
		of breath, and I could hear from listening to your chest
		that your lungs are quite congested.'
<b>V</b> is for	•	The diagnosis.
Verdict	•	What their history and your examination have led you to
verdict		think is causing their symptoms and signs.
is for	•	What does the diagnosis mean for the person?
Information	•	Having a diagnosis of a lump in the breast can mean
momation		many things.
	•	The person needs to know about these.
<b>C</b> is to remind	•	This is where you determine if what you have said has
you to Check Understanding		made sense to the person.
	•	People may only hear the diagnosis and then go into a
		state of shock – which means they don't process what
		you tell them next.
<b>E</b> is for End or	r •	What's going to happen next for the person?
Exit	•	What about follow up?
	•	Referrals to other professionals?

# Section Four: Literature review – Managing upwards to avoid adverse events

#### **Adverse events**

The issues of patient safety and the financial costs of harm in health care were little understood until the relatively recent past. International research has now shown that between 4% and 17.7% of patients suffer from some kind of harm (including permanent disability and death) as a result of adverse events while in hospital.<sup>34</sup> In one of the first studies to undertake a review of medical histories for adverse events, it was found that approximately 70% of adverse events were preventable.<sup>38,39</sup>

In the USA it is estimated that over 98,000 patients die each year because of human error. Although this statistic is alarming, it is also important to highlight the fact that adverse events also lead to poor outcomes. Those poor outcomes correlate to longer recovery and hospital stays.<sup>18</sup> The most commonly used definition of medical error is one developed by Reason and described in the seminal report To Err is Human.<sup>40,41</sup> It defines medical error as 'the failure of a planned action to be completed as intended (i.e. error of execution) or the use of the wrong plan to achieve an aim (i.e. error of planning)'.

Generally, medical errors have been described as failed processes which may not necessarily result in harm to a patient.<sup>39,42</sup> Sometimes these medical errors may be classified as resulting in an adverse event and at other times a near miss. Injuries resulting in harm to a patient and caused by medical management rather than the underlying condition or disease of the patient are identified as *adverse events*. These adverse events are considered preventable and may be the result of a single or multiple accumulating errors occurring in practice.<sup>39</sup> Some adverse events do not result in a patient injury or harm and are referred to as *near misses*.<sup>39,43</sup>

Research and investigation into adverse events and near misses has seen an increased emphasis on what is termed *human factors*. Human factors have been studied more frequently in areas outside health care, e.g. aviation and the military. Reason<sup>18,19</sup> notes that the analysis of human factors is the study of the interaction of equipment and individuals and the variables that can affect the outcome.

Health care, for the most part, was slow to respond to how human factors influenced errors. The old focus was reactive and focused on placing blame. Errors are based on unintentional actions,

not planned actions and in any system involving human interactions, human factors are present.<sup>18</sup>

Reason<sup>19</sup> and Drew<sup>18,44</sup> state that there are two elements that contribute to human errors: latent and active factors. Active factors are more common and are the actions or inactions of individuals. Active factors appear to lead to the error happening and are typically unique to the situation, having immediate effects. Active factors include:

- A lapse, such as not using a checklist;
- A slip, which refers to doing an action incorrectly;
- Mistakes, in which individuals choose the wrong action; and
- Not following procedures.

Active factors are the easiest to identify because they tend to be the final product of a series of events culminating in the error.<sup>18</sup>

The latent factors are harder to detect. Latent factors are present in all organisations and are reflected through poor communication, policies, heavy workload, poor management skills and overall organisational culture. Often, latent factors are not evident until an active failure occurs that leads to an adverse event, and one latent factor can lead to multiple active factors and injuries.<sup>18,19,44</sup>

Vincent<sup>45</sup> extended and adapted Reason's model for use in health care by developing a broad framework of contributory factors that can affect clinical practice and that includes both error-producing conditions and latent failures (Table 1). The framework essentially summarizes the major influences on clinicians in their daily work and the systemic contributions to adverse outcomes, or indeed to good outcomes. Vincent maintains that the analysis of adverse incidents should not focus on the 'root cause', but on a 'systems analysis' whereby the purpose is to reveal gaps and inadequacies in the health care system rather than a single cause.

# Table 1. Framework of factors influencing clinical practice and contributing to adverseevents

Framework	Contributory Factors	Examples of Problems That Contribute to Errors
Institutional	Regulatory context Medicolegal environment	Insufficient priority given by regulators to safety issues; legal pressured against open discussion, preventing the opportunity to learn from adverse events
Organisation and management	Financial resources and constraints	Lack of awareness of safety issues on the part of senior management; policies leading to inadequate
	Policy standards and goals Safety culture and priorities	staffing levels
Work environment	Staffing levels and mix of skills Patterns in workload and shift Design, availability, and maintenance of equipment	Heavy workloads, leading to fatigue; limited access to essential equipment; inadequate administrative support, leading to reduced time with patients
	Administrative and managerial support	
Team	Verbal communication Written communication Supervision and willingness to seek help Team leadership	Poor supervision of junior staff; poor communication among different professions; unwillingness of junior staff to seek assistance
Individual staff member	Knowledge and skills Motivation and attitude Physical and mental health	Lack of knowledge or experience; long term fatigue and stress
Task	Availability and use of protocols Availability and accuracy of test results	Unavailability of test results or delay obtaining them; lack of clear protocols and guidelines
Patient	Complexity and seriousness of condition	Distress; language barriers between patients and care-givers
	Language and communication Personality and social factors	

Source: Vincent, 2003<sup>45</sup>

Once the sequence of events in an adverse incident is clear, there are three main considerations:

- The care-management problems identified among the events;
- The clinical context of each of these problems; and
- The factors contributing to their occurrence.

Any combination of these factors can contribute to the occurrence of a single care-management problem.<sup>45</sup>

Wachter, Pronovost, and Shekelle<sup>46</sup> believe that:

A decade ago, our early enthusiasm for patient safety was accompanied by a hope, and some magical thinking, that finding solutions to medical errors would be relatively straightforward. It was believed that by simply adopting some techniques drawn from aviation and other "safe industries", building strong information technology systems and improving safety culture, patients would immediately be safer in hospitals and clinics everywhere. We now appreciate the naivety of this point of view. Making patients safe requires ongoing efforts to improve practices, training, information technology, and culture. It requires that senior leaders supply resources and leadership while simultaneously promoting engagement and innovation by frontline clinicians...We need competent, well-trained providers equipped with high-quality evidence and working with talented, strong leaders using well designed and integrated technologies and sound policies.

Research into adverse medical events highlights that rather than poor technical skills, human factors such as suboptimal communication and organisational systems and culture inadequacies are implicated in the majority of errors, adverse events and near misses that occur.<sup>22-25</sup> Described as the systems, behaviours or actions that modify human performance,<sup>47</sup> human factors in health care operate on two levels:

- Level 1 relates to how human factors work in a specified system or environment (including ergonomics — how people interact with systems); and
- Level 2 refers to non-technical skills, which are cognitive, social and personal. Specific aspects included within this level are cognition and error, situational awareness, leadership and teamwork, personality and behaviour, communication and assertiveness, decision making, and the effects of tiredness and fatigue on human behaviour.

There are many elements included within the broad term human factors and they encompass areas such as working in teams; communication; knowing when your ability to work is compromised; reactions due to toxic workplace culture; situational awareness; and rule violations. The following sections will discuss managing upwards and assertive communication, as elements of avoiding adverse events.

### **Managing upwards**

Management is getting things done through people, and upward management can be defined as getting things done through those who supervise us.<sup>48</sup> Hegarty and Goldberg<sup>49</sup> described two different approaches to management: the **adversary approach** of 'us against them', and the team approach of participative management. The **team approach** results in more cooperation, togetherness and commitment.

Hegarty and Goldberg<sup>49</sup> defined four denominations of leadership. No one leader has all the characteristics of one leader type, but may have a combination of characteristics:

- The Drive leader is demanding. He or she threatens and punishes and may be driven by fear or low self-esteem. This style of leadership is task focussed and stifles creativity, inevitably resulting in an adversarial relationship with staff;
- 2. The **Default** leader plays numbers and politics and is often more concerned with finances than individuals. The default leader is generally not an expert in the field they manage and has tremendous problems with communication. This type of leadership results in low motivation, low energy, low morale, and, ultimately, the adversarial approach;
- 3. The Draw leader has skills in dealing with people. He or she seeks to draw out the best in people and has an understanding of each person's strengths, weaknesses, values and skills, as well as their likes and dislikes. This manager relates to each as an individual. They seek to improve the work environment and encourage staff to evaluate their own work. This type of leadership results in employee support and institutional success; and
- 4. The **Develop** leader recognises and develops people. He or she knows the organisational goals and communicates them. Their self-confidence and job commitment are evident to staff and result in a basic trust. This type of leadership results in happy staff and high performance.

Both the draw leader and develop leader are communicative and emphasise the employee. In order to build a relationship with a manager or supervisor, an employee must identify their manager's particular leadership style(s).

### Steps in managing upward

Boegli<sup>48</sup> identified eight steps in developing the skills of upwards management:

- 1. Know, accept, build, assert and control oneself. Control of anything must be preceded by a thorough understanding of what one wishes to control;
- 2. Understand and promote your manager. Listen to what is said and what is not said, what was meant to be said and what was said to others. Look for their good qualities and forget their weaknesses. Look for strengths and reinforce them. An employee's own strengths and weaknesses can complement those of their manager;
- Support your institution and understand its philosophy, purpose and goals. Loyalty is important. To manage upwards, an employee must demonstrate an interest in the larger management issues;
- 4. Create and maintain effective working relations. Some ways to enhance working relationships are:
  - Stay away from what is not your business;
  - Keep personalities out of conversation;
  - Keep departmental concerns within the department;
  - Avoid gossip or small talk;
  - Accentuate the positive;
  - Demonstrate professionalism; and
  - Set your manager up to win.
- 5. Listen to, not against. There are several things to consider here:
  - Begin with clear and positive intentions;
  - Match tempo with tone;
  - Combine content with feeling;
  - Relate without repeating;
  - Beware of double-talk;
  - Hear it out;
  - Evaluate, don't judge; and

- Learn to say no.
- 'Do' versus 'done to'. There are two kinds of people those who do and those who are done unto. Becoming part of the solution and not part of the problem results in participative management and a team approach to problem solving;
- 7. Use your power. There is power in knowledge and expertise, and effective communication and persuasive reasoning are especially powerful; and
- 8. Managing the 'write' way. When appropriate, it may be more effective to express your ideas in writing. Written communication can provide greater clarity, as well as a guide to action.

Similarly, Lewis<sup>50</sup> identified four key points in maximising the effectiveness of managing upwards:

- 1. Clear communication;
- 2. In praise of the boss let your manager know they are appreciated;
- 3. Know what's important ensure you are aware of your manager's priorities; and
- 4. Know when to fold 'em choose your battles carefully.

Gemmill<sup>51</sup> states that:

Managing upward communication requires the building of a relationship between superior and subordinate which encourages and rewards disclosure. The subordinate must have confidence that when he "speaks his mind" his superior will not take advantage of him.

Gemmill<sup>51</sup> asserts that there are several factors that may hinder effective upwards communication, including: fear of penalisation if an employee discloses their real opinion; avoiding risk of penalty if uncertain how their manager may respond; fear of punishment; and fear the employee may be perceived as lacking independence if they take a work-related problem to their manager. The key to promoting upwards communication lies, therefore, in the creation of secure relationships with employees and the modelling of desirable communication behaviours by managers.

Donovan<sup>52</sup> states:

Attempts at changing interactive behaviour begin by first considering the underlying belief systems. Given this premise, the need for managing upwards is based on the power holder's concern in becoming isolated from relevant information, as a function of hierarchy. In an apparent paradox, it is believed that by keeping the power-holder fully informed, benefits such as greater autonomy result. However, self-protection and a defensive posture operate as barriers in this process. Their effects can be reduced by arriving at a set of personal beliefs that need to be genuinely held, if managing upwards is to be effective for all parties.

Donovan<sup>52</sup> suggests that managing upwards enables the individual to realistically evaluate the relationship with their manager. Key principles in this process include:

- With regard to the operations of the position, a willingness to provide the right information at the right time in the right manner;
- An understanding that it is in one's own interests to clarify misplaced assumptions and so-called 'differences' and that each party has an equal responsibility to initiate this;
- This should also be seen as an opportunity for the individual to get valid feedback on their performance, though it may not be pleasant at first;
- A readiness to act on that feedback, i.e. self-correction; and
- An understanding of the potential gains to the individual in terms of:
  - Knowing what the boundaries of acceptance are within which they should operate; and
  - Correcting assumptions and/or one's own actions before adverse results occur.

McAlister and Darling<sup>53</sup> suggest that:

Academic studies on upward influence have examined the intentions, personality and other characteristics of the subordinate, but have paid less attention to the characteristics of the supervisor. Although there are sources that offer guidelines for managing upward influence, very few suggest behavioural styles as cues for working with supervisors... Therefore, individuals often miss opportunities for "managing up" because they are unaware of the behavioural style paradigm.

Rather than focusing on the innermost workings of one's personality, behavioural style focuses on how one acts – that is, on what one says and does. Two dimensions of interpersonal behaviour, including assertiveness and responsiveness, determine one's behavioural style. Assertiveness is the degree to which others see behaviours as being forceful or directive. Responsiveness is the degree to which behaviours are seen as emotionally expressive or emotionally controlled. The determination of behavioural style is based almost exclusively on observable data from human interactions.<sup>53</sup>

There are four basic behavioural styles:

- 1. Analyzer: low level of assertiveness and low level of responsiveness;
- Director: low level of emotional responsiveness with a relatively high degree of assertiveness;
- 3. Socializer: high levels of both emotional responsiveness and assertiveness; and
- 4. **Relater**: higher-than-average responsiveness with a comparatively low level of assertiveness.<sup>53</sup>

Figure 1 illustrates the strengths and weaknesses of the four behavioural styles.

When incorporating behavioural style into upwards influence situations, the objective is neither to change one's basic behavioural style nor to imitate the other person. The best and most productive interpersonal relationships and communications occur when two styles become complementary, with each individual's strengths compensating for the weaknesses of the other.<sup>53</sup>



#### Figure 1: Strengths and weaknesses of the four behavioural styles

Source: McAlister and Darling, 2005<sup>53</sup> adapted from Bolton and Bolton, 1984<sup>54</sup>

#### **Assertive communication**

Most health care facilities have policies relating to written communication, but guidelines for verbal communication, which is used most in times of uncertainty and urgency, are generally less regulated. Poor communication and communication overload are shown to have a direct correlation with patient outcomes, adverse events and stressors among health care professionals.<sup>35</sup>

Curtis, Tzannes and Rudge<sup>35</sup> identified several barriers to effective communication:

- Traditional hierarchical relationships e.g. between doctors and nurses, however higher levels of nurse education have resulted in an increase in assertiveness;
- Increasing workload increases in patient acuity and complexity of conditions, and an aging population have resulted in an increased workload for health care practitioners and an increase in communications;
- Mobile workforce staff rotations through different areas and an increasing reliance on casual staff create challenges to effective teamwork and communications;
- Differing perceptions and language different disciplines within the health care team may have differing patient care priorities; and
- Prior experience an individual's prior experience may determine their emotional state when interacting with others.

There are two vital communication skills, **active listening** and **assertion**, which provide the foundation of effective communication.

Active listening describes communication behaviours focused on overcoming barriers to shared understanding. Active listening occurs in a climate which is supportive and includes verbal messages which describe rather than criticize and which assume a problem-solving orientation rather than one which tries to control. Spontaneity and an attitude of empathy and equality in the relationship are equally important.<sup>55</sup>

Component	Description	Example
Door-openers	A description of the	'You're beaming today'
	speaker's body language	'Tell me more'
	or an invitation to talk.	'Go on'
Open question	General questions which	'What's on your mind?'
	provide space to answer	'What are your thoughts on this
		proposal?'
Paraphrase of message	Concise summary of	'Seems like you're feeling pretty
	speaker's feelings	angry at Jo right now.'
Paraphrase of content	Concise summary of	'You're working on making a
message	speaker's words	decision about this?'
Clarification	Questioning vague or	'I don't understand what you mean
	uncertain statements	by "working on it".'
Confirmation	Questioning the speaker	'Was I on target?'
	about the accuracy of your	'Correct me if I'm wrong about this.'
	paraphrases	

Source: Cuthbert, Duffield and Hope, 1992<sup>55</sup>

Assertiveness is a term used to describe behaviours that a person can use to deliver clear messages and stand up for him/herself in difficult situations without violating the rights of others.<sup>55,56</sup>

There are three basic steps to assertiveness:

- 1. Actively listen to what is being said then show the other person that you both hear and understand them;
- 2. Separate ideas from feelings by saying what you think or what you feel; and
- 3. Say that you want to happen.<sup>55</sup>

There are additional assertive behaviours that can enhance competence and confidence as an assertive communicator. Using assertive body language is one of these techniques. Assertive body language means developing an awareness of our bodily expression of meaning and assuring a 'good fit' in the verbal and non-verbal messages we are sending. Assertive, congruent body language is especially helpful in stressful situations. Table 3 explores some detectable differences between assertive, aggressive and passive body language.<sup>55</sup>

	Assertive	Aggressive	Passive
Posture	Upright/straight	Leaning forward	Shrinking
Head	Firm not rigid	Chin jutting out	Head down
Eyes	Direct, no staring,	Strongly focused	Glancing away
	good and regular	staring, often	Little eye contact
	eye contact	piercing or glaring	
		eye contact	
Face	Expression fits the	Set/firm	Smiling even when upset
	words		
Voice	Well modulated to	Loud/emphatic	Hesitant/soft, trailing off at
	fit content		ends of words/sentences
Arms/hands	Relaxed/moving	Controlled	Aimless/still
	easily	Extreme/sharp	
		gestures/fingers	
		pointing, jabbing	
Movement/walking	Measured pace	Slow and heavy or	Slow and hesitant or fast
	suitable to action	fast, deliberate,	and jerky
		hard	

Source: Morten, Richey and Kellet, 1981<sup>56</sup> cited in Cuthbert, Duffield and Hope, 1992<sup>55</sup>

Curtis, Tzannes and Rudge<sup>35</sup> identified the following as a guide to effective communication:

- Personal considerations learn to recognise your own emotional state and attempt to understand the other person's perspective;
- Preparation a few moments of preparation (when possible) aids delivery of your message, both in terms of structure and content;
- Structure a structured approach to communication ensures important details are not missed and minimises the risk of communication error; and
- Graded assertiveness staff may be afraid to be assertive in communicating with senior staff even when aware something is not right. This technique aims to assist the staff member to escalate their concern through a stepped process.

### Table 4. Levels of graded assertiveness and examples

Level one:	express initial concern with an 'l' statement
	I am concerned about
Level two:	make an enquiry or offer a solution
	Would you like me to
Level three:	ask for an explanation
	It would help me to understand
Level four:	a definitive challenge demanding a response
	For the safety of the patient you must listen to me

Source: Curtis, Tzannes and Rudge, 2011<sup>35</sup>

### Conclusion

Errors (in health care) result from physiological and psychological limitations of humans. Causes of error include fatigue, workload, and fear, as well as cognitive overload, poor interpersonal communications, imperfect information processing, and flawed decision making.<sup>57,58</sup>

To provide optimal patient care, all members of the health care team must effectively communicate patient status and the current plan of care. Under the quality and safety competency areas of teamwork and collaboration are two key communication skills to be applied by the health care professional: (a) assert his or her position and perspective in discussions about patient care; and (b) choose communication styles that diminish the risks associated with authority gradients among team members.<sup>59,60</sup>

The abilities to manage upwards and communicate assertively within the health care team are essential skills in the provision of optimal patient care and the minimisation of adverse events.

### Acronyms

AHPRA	Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency
AIPPEN	Australasian Interprofessional Practice and Education Network
ASPIRIN	Acknowledge the problem; Situational analysis; Provide some solutions; Implement; Review the outcome; Inform stakeholders; Next steps
CPR	Cardiopulmonary resuscitation
IPE	Interprofessional education
IPL	Interprofessional learning
IPP	Interprofessional practice
LIPSERVICE	Language; Introduction; Privacy dignity and cultural issues; Subjective questioning; Examination; Review; Verdict; Information; Check understanding; End or exit
WHO	World Health Organization

# Glossary

Active factors	The actions or inactions of individuals that result in medical errors. <sup>18,19,44</sup>
Active listening	Active listening describes communication behaviours focused on overcoming barriers to shared understanding. <sup>55</sup>
Adverse events	Injuries resulting in harm to a patient and caused by medical management rather than the underlying condition or disease of the patient. <sup>39,42</sup>
Assertion	Behaviours that a person can use to deliver clear messages and stand up for him/herself in difficult situations without violating the rights of others. <sup>55,56</sup>
Assertive communication	The straightforward and open expression of your needs, desires, thoughts and feelings. Assertive communication involves advocating for your own needs while still considering and respecting the needs of others. <sup>55,56</sup>
Human factors	The interaction of equipment and individuals and the variables that can affect the outcome. <sup>18,19</sup>
Interprofessional education	Occasions when two or more professions learn from, with and about each other to improve collaboration and the quality of care. <sup>8</sup>
Interprofessional learning	Learning arising from interaction between members (or students) of two professions. This may be a product of interprofessional education or happen spontaneously in the workplace or in education settings. <sup>8</sup>
Interprofessional practice	Two or more professions working together as a team with a common purpose, commitment and mutual respect. <sup>8</sup>
Latent factors	Factors that may lead to human error and are reflected through poor communication, policies, heavy workload, poor management skills and overall organisational culture. <sup>18,19,44</sup>

Mnemonic	Any learning technique that aids information retention, e.g. acronyms and memorable phrases.
Near misses	An adverse event that does not result in a patient injury or harm. <sup>39,43</sup>
Simulated learning	
environment	A technique, not a technology, to replace or amplify real experiences with guided experiences, often immersive in nature, that evoke or replicate substantial aspects of the real world in a fully interactive fashion. <sup>1</sup>
Upward management	Getting things done through those who supervise us.48

### References

- 1. Gaba, D. (2004). The future vision of simulation in health care. *Quality in Health Care*, 13(1): p. 2-10.
- 2. Kenaszchuk, C., K. MacMillan, M. van Soeren, and S. Reeves (2011). Interprofessional simulated learning: short-term associations between simulation and interprofessional collaboration. *BMC Medicine*, 9(29).
- 3. Baker, C., C. Pulling, R. McGraw, J.D. Dagnone, D. Hopkins-Rosseel, and J. Medves (2008). Simulation in interprofessional education for patient-centred collaborative care. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 64(4): p. 372-379.
- 4. Health Workforce Australia (2010). Use of Simulated Learning Environments (SLE) in Professional Entry Level Curricula of Selected Professions in Australia.
- 5. The Interprofessional Curriculum Renewal Consortium Australia (2013). *Interprofessional Education: a national audit.* Report to Health Workforce Australia.
- 6. McCallin, A. (2005). Interprofessional practice: learning how to collaborate. 20(1): p. 28-37.
- 7. World Health Organization (2010). *Framework for action on interprofessional education and collaborative practice*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 8. Freeth, D., M. Hammick, S. Reeves, I. Koppel, and H. Barr (2005). *Effective interprofessional education: development, delivery and evaluation.* Oxford: Blackwell Publishing.
- 9. Centre for the Advancement of Interprofessional Education (2006). CAIPE reissues it's statement on the definition and principles of effective interprofessional education. *CAIPE Bulletin*, 26: p. 3.
- 10. Australasian Interprofessional Practice and Education Network (2013). "What is IPE/IPL/IPP?". Retrieved March 2013, from <u>http://www.aippen.net/what-is-ipe-ipl-ipp</u>.
- Choi, B.C. and A.W. Pak (2008). Multidisciplinarity, interdisciplinarity, and transdisciplinarity in health research, services, education and policy: 3. Discipline, interdiscipline distance, and selection of discipline. *Clinical and Investigative Medicine*, 31(1): p. E41-E48.

- 12. Atwal, A. and K. Caldwell (2006). Nurses' perceptions of multidisciplinary team work in acute health-care. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 12(6): p. 359-65.
- 13. Griffin, S. (1996). Occupational therapists as health care team members: A review of the literature. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 43(1): p. 83-94.
- 14. Way, D., N. Busing, and L. Jones (2002). *Implementing Strategies: collaboration in primary care family doctors and nurse practitioners delivering shared care*. Toronto: Ontario College of Family Physicians.
- 15. Newton, C., V. Wood, and L. Nasmith (2012). Building capacity for interprofessional practice. *The Clinical Teacher*, 9(2): p. 94-98.
- Braithwaite, J., J. Westbrook, A. Foxwell, R. Boyce, T. Devinney, M. Budge, K. Murphy, M. Ryall, J. Beutel, R. Vanderheide, E. Renton, J. Travaglia, J. Stone, A. Barnard, D. Greenfield, A. Corbett, P. Nugus, and R. Clay-Williams (2007). An action research protocol to strengthen system-wide inter-professional learning and practice [LP0775514]. *BMC Health Services Research*, 13(7): p. 144.
- 17. Interprofessional Education Collaborative (2011). *Team-based competencies: building a shared foundation for education and clinical practice, conference proceedings*. USA: Interprofessional Education Collaborative.
- 18. Ross, J. (2009). Considering the human factors in patient safety. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, 24(1): p. 55-56.
- 19. Reason, J. (1997). *Managing the risks of organization accidents and human errors.* England: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- 20. Bromiley, M. and Reid, J. (2012). Clinical human factors: The need to speak up to improve patient safety. *Nursing Standard*, 26(35): p. 35.
- 21. Reason, J. (1995). Understanding adverse events: human factors. *Quality in Health Care*, 4(2): p. 80-89.
- 22. Mercer, S.J., C.L. Whittle, and P.F. Mahoney (2010). Lessons from the battlefield: human factors in defence anaesthesia. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 105: p. 9–20.
- 23. Bion, J.F., T. Abrusci, and P. Hibbert (2010). Human factors in the management of critically ill patients. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 105: p. 26–33.

- 24. Toff, N.J. (2010). Human factors in anaesthesia: lessons from aviation. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 105: p. 21-5.
- 25. Leonard, M., S. Graham, and D. Bonacum (2004). The human factor: the critical importance of effective teamwork and communication in providing safe care. *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 13(Suppl 1): p. i85–i90.
- 26. Flin, R. and N. Matan (2004). Identifying and training non-technical skills for teams in acute medicine. *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, 13(Suppl 1): p. i80-i84.
- 27. Dirkin, G.R. (1983). Cognitive tunneling: use of visual information under stress. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 56(1): p. 191-198.
- 28. Freeman, M., C. Miller, and N. Ross (2000). The impact of individual philosophies of teamwork on multi-professional practice and the implications for education. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 14(3): p. 237-247.
- 29. Interprofessional Ambulatory Care (IpAC) Program. (2012). "IpAC Program Assessment Tool". Retrieved 8 April 2013, from <u>http://www.ecu.edu.au/\_\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0011/297416/IPL-assessment-tool-for-5-</u> <u>Days-and-longer-v4.pdf</u>.
- 30. Interprofessional Education Collaborative Expert Panel (2011). *Core competencies for Interprofessional Collaborative Practice*. Washington, D.C.: Interprofessional Education Collaborative.
- 31. World Health Organization (2005). *Preparing a health care workforce for the 21st century: The challenge of chronic conditions*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 32. Barr, H. (1998). Competent to collaborate: towards a competency-based model for interprofessional education. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 12(2): p. 181-187.
- 33. McGrath, M. (1991). *Multidisciplinary Teamwork*. Aldershot: Avebury.
- 34. Thomas, E.J., D.M. Studdert, W.B. Runciman, R.K. Webb, E.J. Sexton, R.M. Wilson, R.W. Gibberd, B.T. Harrison, and T.A. Brennan (2000). A comparison of iatrogenic injury studies in Australia and the USA. I. Context, methods, casemix, population, patient and hospital characteristics. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 12(5): p. 371-378.
- 35. Curtis, K., A. Tzannes, and T. Rudge (2011). How to talk to doctors a guide for effective communication. *International Nursing Review*, 58(1): p. 13-20.

- 36. Porteous, J.M., E.G. Stewart-Wynne, M. Connolly, and P.F. Crommelin (2009). iSoBAR — a concept and handover checklist: the National Clinical Handover Initiative. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 190(11): p. s152-s156.
- 37. Healy, S. and M. Tyrrell (2013). Importance of debriefing following critical incidents. *Emergency Nurse*, 20(10): p. 32-37.
- Brennan, T.A., L.L. Leape, N.M. Laird, L. Hebert, A.R. Localio, A.G. Lawthers, J.P. Newhouse, P.C. Weiler, and H.H. Howard (1991). Incidence of adverse events and negligence in hospitalized patients. Results of the Harvard Medical Practice Study I. New England Journal of Medicine, 324(6): p. 370-376.
- 39. Bucknall, T.K. (2010). Medical error and decision-making: Learning from the past and present in intensive care. *Australian Critical Care*, 23: p. 150-156.
- 40. Reason, J.T. (1990). *Human Error*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- 41. Kohn, L.T., J. Corrigan, and M.S. Donaldson (2000). *To err is human: Building a safer health system*. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press.
- 42. Hofer, T.P., E.A. Kerr, and R.A. Hayward (2000). What is an error? *Effective clinical practice*, 3(6): p. 261-269.
- 43. Hurwitz, B. and A. Sheikh, eds (2009). *Health care errors and patient safety*. West Sussex: Wiley-Blackwell. p.1-22.
- 44. Drew, F., A. Muster, and M. Samore (2008). *Advances in patient safety: new directions and alternative approaches,* Rockville, MD: Agency for Health Care Research and Quality.
- 45. Vincent, C. (2003). Understanding and responding to adverse events. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 348(11): p. 1051-56.
- 46. Wachter, R.M., P.J. Pronovost, and P.G. Shekelle (2013). Strategies to improve patient safety: the evidence base matures. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 158(5): p. 350-352.
- 47. Fortune, P., M. Davis, J. Hanson, and B. Phillips (2012). *Introduction to Human Factors in Medicine* in *Human Factors in the Health Care Setting : A Pocket Guide for Clinical Instructors*, P. Fortune, M. Davis, J. Hanson, and B. Phillips, Editors. Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell. p. 1-9.

- 48. Boegli, E.H. (1984). Managing upward: understanding your boss. *AORN Journal*, 39(4): p. 654-662.
- 49. Hegarty, C. and P. Goldberg (1983). *How to manage your boss*. Mill Valley, California: Network Inc.
- 50. Lewis, D. (2008). Managing upwards: maximizing effectiveness with your boss. *Biomedical Instrumentation and Technology*, 42(6): p. 447-449.
- 51. Gemmill, G. (1970). Managing upwards communication. *Personnel Journal*, 49: p. 107-110.
- 52. Donovan, P. (1984). Managing upwards a managers dilemma: coming to terms with conflict and power in the hierarchy. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, 22(44): p. 44-48.
- 53. McAlister, D.T. and J.R. Darling (2005). Upward influence in academic organizations: a behavioral style perspective. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 26(7): p. 558-573.
- 54. Bolton, R. and D.G. Bolton (1984). *Social style/management style*. New York, NY: American Management Association.
- 55. Cuthbert, M., C. Duffield, and J. Hope (1992). *Management in nursing*. Marrickville, NSW: W.B. Saunders/Bailliere Tindall.
- 56. Morten, J.C., C.A. Richey, and M. Kellett (1981). *Building assertive skills*. St Louis: The C.V. Mosby Company.
- 57. Helmreich, R.L. (2000). On error management: lessons from aviation. *British Medical Journal*, 320(7237): p. 781-785.
- 58. Dekker, S. (2011). *Patient safety: A human factors approach*. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis Group.
- 59. Cronenwett, L., G. Sherwood, J. Barnsteiner, J. Disch, J. Johnson, P. Mitchell, and J. Warren (2007). Quality and safety education for nurses. *Nursing Outlook*, 55: p. 122-131.
- 60. Aebersold, M., D. Tschannen, and G. Sculli (2013). Improving nursing students' communication skills using crew resource management strategies. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 52(3): p. 125-130.

This document can be made available in alternative formats on request for a person with a disability.

© Department of Health 2013

Delivering a Healthy WA